# RECEIVED

05-22-2019

## STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT III

Case No. 2019AP146-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY J. MADLAND,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Dunn County Circuit Court, the Honorable James M. Peterson, Presiding.

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MARK R. THOMPSON Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1107841

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2124 thompsonm@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

##

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

Anthony J. Madland was arrested on suspicion of driving while impaired. The arresting deputy read Mr. Madland the Informing the Accused Form and, in accordance with the implied consent law. Mr. Madland requested an alternative chemical test to measure intoxication. The deputy told Mr. Madland that blood was the only test they administered, and Mr. Madland never provided with after he submitted alternative test to a blood draw. Should the results of his blood draw be suppressed due to the deputy misleading Mr. Madland and failing to comply with Wisconsin's implied consent law?

The circuit court answered no, and denied Mr. Madland's motion to suppress the results of his blood draw.

### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Briefing should be adequate to present the issue for this court's decision, but Mr. Madland would welcome oral argument should the court deem it desirable. This case does not qualify for publication because it is a misdemeanor appeal. See Wis. Stat. §§ 809.23(1)(b)4 & 751.31(2)(f).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 31, 2016 at approximately 12:57 a.m., Deputy Shields stopped a motorcycle driven by Anthony J. Madland for speeding in Dunn County. (2:1). Deputy Shields and Deputy Blum conducted a traffic stop, and subsequently arrested Mr. Madland for operating while intoxicated. (67:5; App. 107).

After Mr. Madland was arrested and placed in the squad car. Deputy Shields read him "Informing the Accused" form verbatim. (67:5–6; App. 107-08). Deputy Shields asked Mr. Madland if he would submit to a blood test, (67:6; App. 108), and Mr. Madland responded that he wanted a test of his own. (67:13; 68:11–12, 15, 20<sup>1</sup>; App. 115, 137–38). Deputy Shields informed Mr. Madland that they only administered the blood test, but he could request another test after the blood test. (67:13; 20; App. 115). Mr. Madland did not agree to submit to a blood test, but instead asked about how long it would take to process him in jail, and Deputy Blum explained the process for obtaining a warrant if Mr. Madland refused to submit to a blood test. (67:14, 15; 20; App. 116, 117).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the hearing held on February 20, 2017, portions of a DVD recording of the deputy's squad cam—specifically from the 35:00 mark until the 42:21 minute mark—were admitted as exhibit 2. (67:22; App. 124). A copy of the Informing the Accused form was admitted as exhibit 1 (67:5–6; App. 107–08). Both exhibits are listed as item 20 in the appeals document index.

After the deputies discussed the warrant application procedure, Mr. Madland asked the officers if there was a way to not have a needle stuck in his arm. (67:6, 20; App. 108). Deputy Shields responded that blood was "the only test we do." (67:16, 20; App. 118). He further explained that Mr. Madland could request an "alternative test if [he] did the blood draw," and reiterated that "the test we do is blood." (67:16, 20; App. 118). The deputy did not mention a breath test again at this point in the conversation. (67:16; App. 118).

Mr. Madland did not expressly respond to the deputy's request to submit to a blood test, and Deputy Shields treated Mr. Madland's silence as a refusal. (67:6; App. 108). Deputy Shields then transported Mr. Madland to the hospital, and the deputy began the paperwork for a warrant. (68:8–9; App. 134–35).

While at the hospital, Deputy Shields read Mr. Madland the Informing the Accused Form again. (68:8, 9; App. 134, 135). Mr. Madland consented to a blood draw, (68:24, 25; App. 150, 151), and afterward the deputy inquired about alternative or additional chemical test because earlier Mr. Madland made reference to wanting another test. (68:9–10; App. 135–36). Mr. Madland asked the deputy "what's the point?" (68:17; App. 143). No additional testing was ever performed.

Mr. Madland was charged with: Count 1 - operating a motor vehicle, third offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a); and Count 2 - operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, third offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b). (6:1–2).

Mr. Madland moved the circuit court to suppress the results of the blood draw performed following his arrest on the basis that (1) the deputy denied Mr. Madland the right to an alternative chemical test under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(5)(a), and (2) the deputy misinformed Mr. Madland about his rights, in violation of *County of Ozaukee v. Quelle*, 198 Wis. 2d 269, 542 N.W.2d 196 (Ct. App. 1995). (18). Mr. Madland further moved the court to suppress on the grounds that Wis. Stat. § 343.305 violated due process. (19).

The circuit court held hearings on Mr. Madland's motions. (67; 68; App. 103–26, 127–54). At a subsequent oral ruling, the circuit court denied Mr. Madland's motions to suppress. (69:5–15; App. 159–68).

The circuit court found that Deputy Shields was credible, and that he complied with Wis. Stat. §343.305(4) by reading the Informing the Accused form to Mr. Madland. (69:5–7; App. 159–61). It concluded that Mr. Madland was not deprived of his right to a second test because he neither renewed his request following the blood draw, nor did he indicate he wanted to take a second test to "compare the numbers." (69:6; App. 160).

With respect to Mr. Madland's claims that the deputy misled him, the court again concluded that reading the Informing the Accused form was sufficient. (69:10; App. 164). The court noted that it was "a little problematic" that Deputy Shields responded to Mr. Madland's requests as he did, (69:7; App. 161), and acknowledged that the deputy could have been "a little bit more careful" and explained that blood was the primary test they performed rather than the only test they performed. (69:9; App. 163). The court also denied Mr. Madland's due process claims. (69:11–14; App. 165–68).

Mr. Madland subsequently pleaded no contest to Count 2. (72:13). The circuit court accepted Mr. Madland's plea and entered a judgment of conviction on Count 2. (38;). The court subsequently ordered that Mr. Madland's sentence be stayed pending appeal. (42; 60; App. 101).

Mr. Madland filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (35). This appeal followed.

#### ARGUMENT

I. The Officer Gave Mr. Madland Incorrect Information about His Rights Under the Consent Law and Ultimately of Deprived Him His Right Alternative Test. The Evidence of the Should Draw Blood Therefore Be Suppressed.

#### A. Introduction and standard of review

After his arrest, Mr. Madland asserted his rights under Wisconsin's implied consent law by requesting an alternative chemical test. In response to those requests, Deputy Shields misinformed Mr. Madland, thereby violating the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4). The deputy's misinformation ultimately affected Mr. Madland's ability to make a choice about his chemical testing rights under the implied consent statute and further limited his access to his statutory right to a second test. The results of his blood draw should therefore be suppressed.

Appellate courts analyze an order denying a suppression motion under a two-part standard of review. A circuit court's findings of fact are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. *State v. Conner*, 2012 WI App 105, ¶15, 344 Wis. 2d 233, 821 N.W.2d 267. Appellate courts will uphold a circuit court's findings of fact unless they are against the "great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *State v. Turner*, 136 Wis. 2d 333, 343–44, 401 N.W.2d 827 (1987). Application of the implied

consent statute to a set of facts is a question of law, which this court reviews de novo. *State v. Reitter*, 227 Wis. 2d 213, 223, 595 N.W.2d 646 (1999). Thus, the ultimate question of "whether the facts as found by the [circuit] court meet the constitutional standard" is reviewed de novo. *State v. Hindsley*, 2000 WI App 130, ¶22, 237 Wis. 2d 358, 614 N.W.2d 48.

B. The deputy did not comply with Mr. Madland's request for an alternative test, and misinformed Mr. Madland about his right to an alternative test, thereby violating the deputy's duties under the implied consent statute.

Wis. Stat. § 343.305 provides the requirements for law enforcement agents administering tests for The intoxication. statute provides that agencies "shall enforcement be prepared administer . . . 2 of the 3 tests," referring to chemical alcohol tests for blood, breath, or urine. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2). Law enforcement may "designate which of the tests shall be administered first" (the "primary test") when a driver is arrested on suspicion of driving while intoxicated. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2) & (3).

An accused who submits to the primary test is permitted, upon request, to (1) take the second test offered by the law enforcement agency free of charge, or (2) a reasonable opportunity to have an additional test of his choice at his expense. Wis. Stat. §§ 343.305(4), (5)(a). The purpose of providing for an

alternative or additional test is to afford the accused the opportunity to verify or challenge the results of the primary test administered by law enforcement. *State v. McCrossen*, 129 Wis. 2d 277, 288, 385 N.W.2d 161 (1986).

The implied consent statute mandates that law enforcement convey the information provided in Wis. Stat. § 343.305 at the time a chemical test is requested from the accused. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4). The Informing the Accused Form fulfills this statutory mandate by alerting the accused of the implied consent law and his rights under it. See State v. Reitter, 227 Wis. 2d 213, ¶15, 595 N.W.2d 646. A law enforcement officer complies with Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) when he reads the Informing the Accused Form verbatim. See In re Smith, 2008 WI 23, ¶53, 308 Wis. 2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243 (2008).

If the accused makes a request for an alternative test, then law enforcement has a duty to exercise reasonable diligence in accommodating that request. *State v. Renard*, 123 Wis. 2d 458, 460–61, 367 N.W.2d 237 (Ct. App. 1985). The request for an alternative or additional test may be made before the primary test is administered, and the accused is not required to reiterate his request for an alternative test after submitting to the primary test. *See State v. Schmidt*, 277 Wis. 2d 561, ¶30, 691 N.W.2d 379 (Ct. App. 2004).

Mr. Madland made an express request for alternative testing, and he was not required to reiterate that request after he submitted to the blood draw. Schmidt, 277 Wis. 2d 561, ¶30. The fact that he did not renew his request following Deputy Shields' statement that blood is "only test we do" evinces the effect of Deputy Shields's misleading advisory. The officer in this case therefore violated the implied consent statute by failing to honor such a Mr. Madland's request for an alternative test.

In addition to diligently providing alternative testing following a request, law enforcement cannot mislead or misinform the accused about his rights under the implied consent law. County of Ozaukee v. Quelle, 198 Wis. 2d 269, 280, 542 N.W.2d 196 (Ct. App. 1995), abrogated on other grounds by Smith, 308 Wis. 2d 65 (upholding Quelle in instances where an officer provides "more information than required by Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4)"). In Smith, the Wisconsin Supreme Court applied a three-part test to determine whether an officer misleads a defendant when he first read him the Informing the Accused Form verbatim and then provided additional information about the defendant's rights:

- (1) Has the law enforcement officer not met, or exceeded his or her duty under §§ 343.305(4) . . . to provide information to the accused driver;
- (2) Is the lack or oversupply of information misleading; and
- (3) Has the failure to properly inform the driver affected his or her ability to make a choice about chemical testing?

Smith, 308 Wis. 2d 65, ¶56 (adopting the test from Quelle, 198 Wis. 2d 269, as interpreted by State v. Ludwigson, 212 Wis. 2d 871, 875, 569 N.W.2d 762 (Ct. App. 1997)).

If an officer gives additional information, the defendant bears the burden of showing that the information was misleading, and that it affected his ability to make a choice about chemical testing. Ludwigson, 212 Wis. 2d at 876. "[M]isleading," as used in the second prong of the test "was meant . . . to be synonymous with the term 'erroneous." Smith, 308 Wis. 2d 65, ¶56, n.43. Further, the inquiry under the third prong considers whether the misinformation "affected" the driver's ability to make a choice—and not the driver's subjective confusion. See Quelle, 198 Wis. 2d at 280 (concluding that it was inappropriate to assess the driver's perception of the information provided to him by law enforcement).

Here, Deputy Shields violated his statutory duty by providing additional information. There is no dispute that Officer Shields read Mr. Madland the Informing the Accused Form verbatim. (67:5–6; App. 107-08). Officer Shields However. furnished additional information to Mr. Madland—most notably, and on more than one occasion, that a blood test was the "only" test his agency was performed, and that Mr. Madland could only request an alternative test following submission to a blood test. (67:13, 16; 20; App. 115, 118). This information is not consistent with the implied consent law, which requires that law enforcement be prepared to administer two of the three chemical tests to measure intoxication. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2).

Neither the implied consent law nor the Informing the Accused form provide that the accused may only request additional testing *after* submitting to the agency's primary test. *See* Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4), (5)(a); (20:1). Furthermore, the court in *Schmidt*, 277 Wis. 2d 561, ¶30, expressly held that an accused may make a valid request for alternative testing *before* submitting to a primary test, and the extra information furnished by the deputy conflicts with that holding.

The extra information provided by Deputy Shields was misleading. As explained in the preceding paragraph, Deputy Shields's explanations that a blood test was the "only" test they performed, and that Mr. Madland could only request alternative testing after he submitted to the primary test contradict the implied consent statute and the Informing the Accused form. Deputy Shields effectively told Mr. Madland that there was no alternative test, and even if there was, he could not request it until after the blood draw—both of which conflict with the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 343.305, and have a high potential to mislead the accused. This information was therefore erroneous, and ultimately misleading. Smith, 308 Wis. 2d 65, ¶56, n.43.

The misleading information provided by Deputy Shields affected Mr. Madland's ability to make a choice about his chemical testing rights. As

explained in Quelle, 198 Wis. 2d at 280, this inquiry focuses on whether or not the officer's information affected the accused's ability to make a choice—not the accused's perception of the information. After he the Informing the Accused Mr. Madland promptly responded that he wanted an alternative test. The deputy responded that he could only perform a blood test. Based on these misrepresentations, Mr. Madland ceased his requests for an alternative test, as no reasonable person would continue to insist upon a test that he has been told does not exist. Furthermore, it is notable that the deputy understood Mr. Madland's statements as requests for alternate tests, as he followed up about each test following the blood draw. Mr. Madland's response of "what's the point?" following that inquiry, (68:17; App. 143), further suggests that he relied upon the deputy's misinformation that neither breath nor urine tests were performed by his agency, and that misinformation factored into his choice about chemical testing.

The circuit court acknowledged that the deputy's explanations following the reading of the Informing the Accused form were "problematic," but nonetheless concluded that reading the Informing the Accused Form was sufficient enough to inform Mr. Madland of his rights. Law enforcement can meet their statutory duties under the implied consent law by reading the Informing the Accused form verbatim, *Smith*, 308 Wis. 2d 65, ¶53, but that does not end the inquiry when an officer provides supplemental information. The ultimate question is whether the

deputy furnished information in addition to the Informing the Accused form which was misleading, and whether that information affected the accused's ability to make an informed decision about chemical testing. The information provided by the deputy in this case did both.

Regardless of what Deputy Shields meant to convey when he supplemented the Informing the Accused advisory to Mr. Madland, his statements plainly contradicted the information he was required to convey by statute. Deputy Shields could have simply re-read the form to Mr. Madland, but instead created confusion with regard to: (1) whether the offered second (2) agency a test: whether Mr. Madland would receive any alternative testing; and (3) when Mr. Madland could make a valid request for testing. This conduct did not comport with the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 343.305, and thereby violated Mr. Madland's statutory right to request and receive an alternative chemical test.

C. Suppression is the appropriate remedy for failing to honor a request for alternative testing.

Although the right to alternative chemical testing is statutory rather than constitutional, the Wisconsin Supreme Court noted that the right to alternative testing "help[s] assure fairness." *McCrossen*, 129 Wis. 2d at 297. Accordingly, the court in *McCrossen* "refuse[d] to limit the right to a second test" to circumstances in which the primary test is inconclusive or shows blood alcohol levels below the

legal limit, and instead "strictly enforce[d] the right to a second test." *Id.* When the accused requests an alternative test, submits to primary testing, and law enforcement does not honor the request for additional testing, suppression of the primary test result is the appropriate remedy. *Schmidt*, 277 Wis. 2d at 572; *see also McCrossen*, 129 N.W.2d at 297.

Mr. Madland expressly requested alternative testing at the beginning of his encounter with Deputy Shields, and he was misinformed about available testing and the timing in which he could request an alternative test. Mr. Madland later discussed the requested blood test, and Deputy Shields told him that blood is the "only test" that we do." (67:16; 20; App. 118). Because this information contradicts the advisory regarding additional testing provided in the Informing the Accused form, and because Mr. Madland relied on that misleading information as evidenced by the fact that he ceased requests for additional testing and responded "what's the point?" when later asked about additional testing—he was deprived of his statutory right to a second test. In accordance with McCrossen, 129 N.W.2d at 297 the results of his blood draw should be suppressed.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments, Mr. Madland respectfully asks this court to reverse the circuit court's denial of his suppression motion. If this court reverses the circuit court's suppression ruling, Mr. Madland asks this court to remand his case to the circuit court with instructions to permit Mr. Madland to withdraw his pleas.