RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

06-20-2019

COURT OF APPEALS

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2019AP000146-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY J. MADLAND,

Defendant-Appellant

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction
Entered in Dunn County Circuit Court,
Judge James M. Peterson, Presiding

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF - RESPONDENT

RENEE M. TABER
Assistant District Attorney
State Bar #1103475

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent
Dunn County
District Attorney's Office
615 Stokke Pkwy, Ste 1700
Menomonie, Wisconsin 54751
(715) 232-1687
(715) 232-6886 (Fax)
renee.taber@da.wi.gov

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did Madland request a different primary test, other than the blood test, rather than requesting an alternate test?

The circuit court correctly ruled “Yes.”

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request either oral argument or publication. The issue may be resolved by applying well-established legal principles to the facts of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The State stipulates the facts as provided by the defendant – appellant.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED MADLAND’S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE.

The circuit court correctly denied Madland’s motion to suppress evidence when it concluded the “only reasonable interpretation” is that Deputy Shields conveyed that “you have to take the blood test before you can get another test.”¹

A. Relevant Law and Standard of Review

The standard of review of trial court decisions on motions to suppress is well established. “Whether evidence should be suppressed is a question of constitutional fact.” *State v. Johnson*, 2007 WI 32, ¶ 13, 299 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182,

¹ See 66:9

quoting *State v. Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, ¶ 19, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899. "A finding of constitutional fact consists of the circuit court's findings of historical fact, and its application of these historical facts to constitutional principles." *Id.*, citing *State v. Turner*, 136 Wis. 2d 333, 343-44, 401 N.W.2d 827 (1987). An appellate court reviews findings of fact under the clearly erroneous standard, and the application of those facts to constitutional principles independently. *Id.*

B. The circuit court properly found that Madland requested a different primary test rather than an alternate test.

"Although Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) and (5) use the term "alternative test," it is clear from these provisions that the accused does not have a right to choose a test *instead of* the one the officer asks him or her to take; rather, the 'alternative test' is *in addition to* that test." *State v. Schmidt*, 2004 WI App 235, ¶ 11, 277 Wis. 2d 561, 569, 691 N.W.2d 379, 383 (emphasis original); *See, e.g., State v. Piddington*, 2001 WI 24, ¶ 51, 241 Wis.2d 754, 623 N.W.2d 528 ("second, alternative test"); *State v. Renard*, 123 Wis.2d 458, 460, 367 N.W.2d 237 (Ct.App.1985) ("additional test").

In the unpublished, but persuasive case, *State v. Tollaksen*, No. 2012AP778-CR, unpublished slip op. (Ct. App. Jan. 10, 2013), the court found that Tollaksen requested a different test, however, the circuit court made a reasonable determination that Tollaksen requested a different test instead of, and not in addition to, the blood draw because he did not like needles. The court held that was not a definitive request for an additional test. *Id.* at ¶ 14

Moreover, in the unpublished, but persuasive case, *Village of Pleasant Prairie v. Brunello*, No. 2010AP1124-FT, unpublished slip op. (Ct. App. Sept. 29, 2010), the court concluded that Brunello's statement that he wanted a blood test was not a request for an alternate test, but a statement of his preference for the first test. The inquiry was made when the officer was explaining Brunello's obligation to submit to a chemical test under the implied consent law. The officer responded to Brunello's request by explaining that the Pleasant

Prairie police department had designated the breath test as the primary test and the blood test as the alternate test. ¶ 11. When it appeared that Brunello was adamant about wanting the blood test first, the officer took the time to explain to him that the blood test was not offered as the first test. After this explanation, Brunello consented to the breath test. The trial court drew the reasonable inference that Brunello was attempting to designate the primary test that he would submit to. *Id.* The court found that Brunello's request for a blood test could not be elevated to a request for an alternate test when, after completing the breath test, Brunello never made a request for an alternate test. *Id.*

Here, like *Tollaksen*, Madland just did not like needles and did not want his blood drawn with a needle. He did not definitively request an additional test. Like *Brunello*, Madland did not want the primary test that the agency was prepared to administer and had designated as its primary test, which was the blood test.

Madland's question and comments to Deputy Shields regarding the possibility of not getting a needle stuck in his arm clearly showed that he understood Deputy Shields asked him to take a blood test and that he was not requesting an alternate test, but a different primary test. (65: 20, 22, 23, & 24) This was further illustrated by Deputy Shields asking Madland, after the blood draw, if he wanted another test, and Madland responded "what's the point." (65:17)


Contrary to the defense's assertion that Madland expressly requested alternative testing, the circuit court held that Deputy Shields conveyed that Madland had to "take the blood test before" he could "get another test." (66:9) The circuit reasoned that "if you look at the information of the Informing the Accused that was conveyed and the request of the blood test and so forth, that is the only reasonable interpretation." (66:9)

CONCLUSION

Ultimately, did Madland request a different primary test rather than an alternate test? The circuit court correctly held “yes;” thus, properly denying Madland’s motion to suppress evidence. For the reasons set forth above, the State respectfully requests that this Court uphold the circuit court’s denial of Madland’s motion to suppress the evidence, thus, upholding his conviction.